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within the past 50 years.
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Summary:
Constructed circa 1908 to 1910, the Wood Building (Preferred) is located on the southwest comer or 

Independence and Frederick Streets in Cape Girardeau, Missouri. It has one primary address at 605 Independence 

Street, and three original, intact, business entrances on the first story- 607 Independence Street on the north, and . 

and 3 South Frederick Street on the east. It is a rectangular, three-story, two-part commercial block building that 

was assembled using a load-bearing wall system of varying shades of red brick1 It is representative of the properr.- 

type "Commercial Buildings, ca. 1850-1950" as listed in the MPS HistcM^ArrMteaiaal Resources tfdgx Gmrde&L 

Missooi (MR 7/20/22). An original, decorative sheet-metal cornice wraps around the primary (east) and north 

elevations. A wall cornice divides the first and second stories on the east, and also appears at the corners on the 

north elevation. The building's minimal elaboration includes late 19th and early 20th Century Revival features such 

as a smooth exterior finish, a prominent parapet, a cast-iron column at the recessed corner entrance of 1 Soich 

Frederick Street, and on the west and south elevations, large, rectangular windows with segmental arches and cast- 

stone sills.2 The design includes three bays, two on the east elevation and one on the north, lie east and norc: 

elevations, which are clearly visible to passersby, are more elaborate than the other two elevations. The Woca 

Building is situated on the edge of downtown Cape Girardeau, near the Haarig Commercial Historic District (NR 

7/20/00). Hie south and west elevations face an adjacent yard and alleyway, respectively. Across Independence 

Street are other commercial establishments, and on the opposite (northwest) comer shs a red brick building tha: 

served as the police station and courthouse during the Wood Building's period of significance. It has served as a 

hotel and rooming house and as the home for commercial enterprises - most notably a brothel, a speakeasy, anc 

numerous taverns, including one in operation today (Mac's Tavern). Although some repairs have been necessary, SL 

maintenance has been carried out by recycling as many of the original materials as was feasible, by remaining fakhfu: 

to the original motif, and by utilizing original workmanship techniques whenever possible. Interior elements such as 

walls, flooring, stairways, closets, doors, moldings and trim are also nearly all original Widi most of its architectun. 

features intact, the integrity of the Wood Building has been carefully preserved.

Exterior:

This three-story, rectangular, two-part commercial block exhibits late 19th and early 20th Century Revival 

influences. According to Sanbom maps, the Wood Building was under construction but unfinished in 1908.- 

Composed of varying shades of red brick laid in a modified running bond pattern, it exhibits distinctive architectural 

features on each elevatioa No blueprints, architectural drawings, or early photographs have been located.

All exterior windows are original with a one-over-one configuration and wood sash. Each contains the 

original commercial-grade glass, except in a few instances where breakage required replacement. Windows on the 

south and west elevations have segmental brick arches; windows on the north and east elevations have flat arches. 

Although aluminum storm windows have been installed, all original windows are intact. The roofline consists of a 

crenellated parapet on the east elevation, and a stepped parapet wall on the north and south elevations that slopes 

downward toward the back (west) elevation, which has no parapet. In 1980, by which rime the original lime mortar 

had deteriorated, the current owner disassembled and rebuilt much of the brickwork along all sides of the parapet for 

safety reasons while maintaining the original design and materials.

There are two capped chimneys on the north elevation, as well as two on the south and two on the west
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All chimneys were repaired at the same rime as the parapet, and in similar fashion, widi the exception of the 

northern chimney on the west elevation. That chimney was dismantled to below the roofline because of its 

hazardous condition, and, although the original flue remains, the chimney was never rebuilt. In most areas, the 

parapet and chimneys retain their original ceramic-tile coping. In 1995 all previous roofing layers were removed and 

a new roof was added using the design of the original as well as similar construction techniques and materials.

The east (front) elevation of the Wood Building is symmetrical with a crenellated parapet, overhanging eaves, 

and wide iron entablature. There is one deeply recessed rectangular window at the center of the third story on this 

elevation, the top half of which was converted into a vent in 1987 or 1988 in order to accommodate an attic fan. 

The current owner is planning on returning the original window in the near future. There are three evenly-spaced 

windows on either side of this center window, and all seven openings have cast-stone sills. The second story has 

seven rectangular openings directly beneath those of the third floor. The center opening is a fire escape door. All 

second story windows have cast-stone lintels and sills. Two iron brackets that once supported the fee escape are 

direcdy above the second story doorway. The original fee escape stairs are in the owner's possession. They were 

removed due to safety concerns. A second cornice line divides the first story from the second on this elevation.

The first floor of the front (east) elevation is divided into two storefronts. The south recessed entrance at 3 

South Frederick Street contains large, original display windows on either side that are offset from the south comer of 

the building by approximately one foot A single step, which is patterned with original blue and white octagonal 

ceramic tiles, leads to the doorway. The north business entrance at 1 South Frederick Street is the focal point of the 

building. It has been set on a diagonal to the comer of die building and original display windows of a slightly 

different design than those at 3 South Frederick Street adorn either side. Moreover, h has the same original ceramic 

tilework design on the step, as does the entrance to 3 South Frederick Street, A cast iron column with a volute 

capital and a plain base supports the front comer of the building, and a sandstone foundation with an iron cap is 

visible along this east elevation. An old coal chute on the sidewalk in front of this elevation has been filled in with 

concrete and does not affect the integrity of the building.  

The Wood Building's north elevation faces Independence Street, The parapet is stepped and there are two 

chimneys, one located toward the center and one toward the east end. The roofline includes a detailed sheet-metal 

cornice that wraps around the north and east elevations. A lower cornice divides the first and second stories on 

only the east and west ends of this elevation. Windows are similar to those on the east elevation. The third floor has 

one group of three windows offset from the west comer of the building by approximately three feet. Another set of 

two windows is located about three feet west of the first set, followed by another set of two again separated by about 

three feet of brick The next opening is a large two-story window widi two lights above the main opening and 

another running the full width below the window. A final third story window is approximately three feet farther 

west. The second floor of the north elevation has the same window openings as the third floor, widi the exception 

of the large window toward the back (west) elevation. This is where the large window from the third flood continues 

down into the second story.

The first story of the north elevation has a continuation of the display windows from 1 South Frederick 

Street. The next window on this level is lined up with the last window in the set of three on the floors above k. The 

subsequent two sets of windows follow the same patterns as those of the floors above. The last window is followed 

by a doorway with a four-light transom above it that has been covered with plywood. A raised wooden-panel door 

with a Classical Revival pediment above and a full sidelight to die east adorns this entrance. Steps on the west end of
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this elevation lead to an enclosed cypress porch on the second floor. On the sidewalk just east .of the entrance to 

605 Independence is another fffled-in coal chute that also does not detract from the integrity of die budding.

Finally, the north elevation contains star and rod bolts that the current owner added in the fall ot ws/ tc 

increase the structural stability of the building in the event of an earthquake. While not original, they were obtainec 

from a shoe factory in Qpe Girardeau that had been constructed at approximately the same rime as the Wooc 

Building and are appropriate to the time period of the Wood Building's significance.

The west elevation faces an alleyway. With the exception of the third story, this elevation is pnmanr- 

covered by the rear porch and stairs. The roofline on this side has no parapet or comice_ board; it does, however. 

have a central chimney. All three stories on this elevation contain two windows on either side of a central doorway. 

These openings are spaced equally across the elevation and are lined up directly with one another all the way to the 

basement. The windows are different from those on the east and north elevations in that they have a segmental arc- 

made out of the same brick as the rest of the building above them, and a stone lintel below. The porch on this sic; 

was constructed in 1984 to replace what remained of the tornado-damaged, deteriorated and dangerous pngina. 

porch, which covered both the second and third stories. Because the porch on the third story had consisted  : 

nothing more than a floor and railings, only a porch for the second story was rebuik in a manner faithful to the 

original design. Usable original boards, augmented by materials from a house older than the Wood Building, were 

employed, and the siding for the porch came from a butchering shed associated with that same older house.

Like the west elevation, the south elevation of the building has no cornice board at the roofline. It does. 

however, have a stepped parapet and two chimneys like those on the north. The windows on this elevation are 

similar to those of the west elevation, with segmental brick arches and cast-stone lintels. Beginning from the wes: 

side, the second and third floor windows are the same in size and spacing - a group of two larger windows foUowec 

by a group of two smaller windows. These groupings are then followed by one window that is larger than the other;. 

A final set of two large windows is set about four feet from the east comer of the building. The windows on the 

first floor of the south elevation are similar in design to those on the second and third floors; however, the number 

and spacing is different. From the west corner of the building there is one window that is lined up with the hrs: 

window in the floors above it, and it has been covered with wood. The next window is centered under the fe 

window in die sets on the second and third stories above it. Anodier window is centered under the single windcra . 

near the center of the building on the upper levels; however, it is shorter than the two above it. Finally, a set of twc 

windows follows toward the front. The first is aligned below the last window in the sets above it; the second is set 

toward die front of die building with no windows above it at all Furthermore, mere are star and rod bolts on this 

elevation that correspond to diose on the north elevation.

Interior .
The Wood Building accommodated three businesses on the first story, and had approximately 10 rooms or. 

each of the top two floors that were used for both boarders and hotel guests. The overall integrity of the Wooc 

Building's interior is intact. With the exception of the removal of a single bathroom at the west end of the seconc 

and third floors, and slight modifications to die main hallways dial were done to accommodate one apartment or. 

each of the upper two stories, the building's interior remains essentially unchanged.
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Ac the eastern end of the north side of the third story are four adjacent rooms that have not been changed 

over the years (see floor plan pg. 7.9). The first opens onto a hallway and is connected to the room directly to its 

west. Both of these rooms have closets on either side of the connecting door. Continuing toward the west end of 

this north side, the third and fourth rooms do not connect to any other room, but open onto the hallway. Unlike the 

other two, these rooms have no closets, and, while the third room is very plain, the fourth looks as though it had, at 

one time, been used as an office. There is a five-foot high wainscoting on the walls of this room, as well as a 

telephone outlet. Old telephone numbers, which appear to date back to the 1920s and 1930s, are visible on the wall 

near the telephone jack To the west of this room is the original "IT shaped staircase, which leads aH the way to the 

first floor.

The stairs were constructed of darkly stained wood and form the main access to both die second and third 

floors from the first floor entrance at 605 Independence Street Graffiti, in tie form of names and initials, can be 

seen on the third-story banister. There is one drop-down pendant hanging below the third floor landing under the 

balustrade, and two more are suspended from the second floor landing under the same balustrade; all appear to be 

original
The final and westernmost room on the north side of the third story has been converted into a bedroom for 

the third-floor apartment. The current owner has added a closet in this room. South of this bedroom, along the 

west side of the third story, what was once a bathroom for the entire floor has been converted into a Irving room for 

the apartment. A living room door opens out onto what is now the roof of the rear porch. Moreover, an open 

staircase with a dark wood banister leads from the Irving room to the second floor. As was the case in the bedroom, 

a closet has been added in the living room, and an interior wafl was constructed to create a hallway leading to a new 

triangular-shaped bathroom. The original hallway configuration was modified slightly in order to accommodate the 

new space.

Heading from die living room toward the east along the south side of the third floor, the next room in the 

apartment is now die kitchen. In this room, the original door fayKng back into the original hallway is still in place. 

The second bedroom of the apartment is the next room to the east, and only changes in this room have been the 

removal of die original door into die hall and the addition of a closet.

The final diree rooms along die south side of die third floor are not part of the apartment and remain 

unchanged. They are similar to the rooms directly across the original halhvay, which is approximately seven feet 

wide at its widest point on the west end of the building and only five feet wide at its narrowest point on the eastern 

end. This seems to have been done in order to maintain the symmetry of die seven windows along die front 

elevation.
The layout of die second floor - including die second floor apartment - is virtually identical to that of the 

diird floor, with diree exceptions: die removal of an original closet in what is now the apartment living room, the 

construction of a new living room wall, and die removal of the wall between the two middle rooms on the north side 

of die second floor diat are not connected to the apartment (see floor plan pg. 7.8). The remains of early vinyl 

flooring can be seen in one of the original rooms, and the south room on the eastern side of the second floor 

contains die only fireplace in die building. This fireplace is original, was probably fabricated from darkly stained oak, 

and has simple yet elegant lines.
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Except in the aparanents, all second and 'third floor rooms measure approximately twelve feet by fifteen feet Even 

Se apartments, virtually all baseboards, moldings and trims are original Some of the original nused-panel, pine 

doors were used within the apartments, and the others are still in place in the rooms outside of the apartments ̂  Most 

still have their original room numbers affixed to them. Doorknobs and hardware are generally original, akhougi: 

thev vary widely in design. Craftsmanship and hardware is more elaborate on the second floor than on the thiro. 

Several window aprons and doors on the third floor, including one in the apartment, display graffiti such as carved 

initials. One even shows evidence of what appears to have been a peephole.

The first floor of the Wood Building is divided into three businesses (see floor plan pg. 7J). <Jn me 

northeast side of the building is 1 South Frederick Street. This location is approximately seventy feet long ana 

twenty feet wide, and still houses a tavern. Its primary comer entrance consists of a narrow double door with brass 

hardware which appears to be original. The interior of the pub has a decorative pressed tin cefling that also seems 

to be original, and a vinyl floor covering. The bar, although probably original, has been painted brown so the wooa 

grain is no longer visible. The raised panels on the front of the bar, however, are evident. These panels are adomea 

with carved flowers and bracketed by pilasters. There is an extension to the bar that blends with the other section 

although it is not as ornate. There are two bathrooms at the rear of the room, and a door on the back, or west, waJ 

leads into the foyer entrance of 605 Independence Street where the previously discussed staircase leads to the secona

and third floors. . . . ,. r .
The current owner uses 3 South Frederick Street as his workshop. This room is approximately 70 feet long 

and 15 feet wide. The original framing, unusual because its square bracing was done strictly with two-by-fours, is 

visible along the north interior wall T.-.' owner also uses the back portion of the first story, which is the 6C/ 

Independence Street business address, ror similar purposes. It runs the full width of the building direcdy behind 1 

and 3 South Frederick Street. The basement, which consists of a dirt floor and sandstone walls, is accessible througn 

a door in this location.

Conclusion: , . , 
The Wood Building retains a high degree of exterior and interior integrity. Almost all exterior architectural 

elements are intact, despite the fact that the chimneys and parapet were repaired in the late 1980s. All window sash 

are original behind aluminum storm windows. Glass has only been replaced when absolutely necessary. A new rear 

porch was constructed in 1984 and the roof was replaced in 1995, following the design and construction techniques 

of the original as closely as possible. For example, many boards from the original porch were saved and used in the 

new porch Even after a car accident severely damaged the front entrance at the 1 South Frederick Street address in 

1999,4 the owner had the building carefully repaired by salvaging as many of the original materials as possible rather 

than replacing them with entirely new ones.5 Although sections of both the second and the diird floors have been 

converted into apartments, original stairways still exist, and most walls, flooring, baseboards, closets, doors (including 

room numbers and other hardware), window aprons, moldings, and trim wrdiin the interior of the building are 

original Furthermore, original graffiti, which consists of names and initials that were carved into walls, staircase 

balustrades, window aprons, and into the backs of doors, has never been removed. Because nearly all of its exterior 

and interior architectural features have been preserved, the Wood Building retains integrity.
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ftummatv: . .. . . ,
Built circa 1908-1910, the Wood Building (Preferred) in Cape Girardeau, Missouri, is eligible tor listing in the 

National Register of Historic Places under Criterion A and is locally significant in the areas of Commerce and Socia. 
History for its role in the development of Cape Girardeau. Constructed in an era when many rooming houses anc 
hotels were built over taverns, the Wood Building is representative of the historic context "19th and Early 20- 
Century Commercial Buildings, ca. 1850-1950" in the MPS Historical ard Ar&iteaural Resamss (fCape Gam&a:'. 
Missouri The city's oldest extant tavern, the Wood Building meets the registration requirements of the commeraa; 
buildings property type and has been described as the most notable surviving example of a neighborhood 
commercial building in Cape Girardeau.6 Historically, the first floor housed both legitimate and illicit businesses 

including numerous pubs, while the second and third story rooms were rented to prostitutes as well as more 
traditional boarders. The building upholds the tradition of the neighborhood tavern to this day. The period or 
significance begins in 1910 when the Wood Building was first leased by a brewing company and ends in 1953 at the 
arbitrary 50-year-old cut-off date for National Register listing.

Building History:

William L Wood, a contractor and farmer, and his wife Mary moved from Perryville, Missouri, to Cape 
Girardeau circa 1895 with their two young sons, William Jr., age 5, and Charles, age 97 According to the legs, 
abstract, Wood purchased the eastern 127 feet of Lot 25 in Range B in the city of Cape Girardeau in October or 
1901. In November of 1906, Wood and his wife used the property as collateral to secure a $3,000 loan, and by 19CS 
the Sanbom Insurance Map depicts the building at the comer of Independence and Frederick Streets as 
"unfinished." 8 The exterior and first floor of the building were completed by July of 1910, when the Rudolph 
Stecher Brewing Company of Murphysboro, Illinois, rented the entire first floor.9 The lease clearly indicates that the 
building is three stories; however, because die Brewing Company only leased the first level, it is unclear whether or 
not the interiors of the upper two floors had been completed. What is known is that four months after leasing the 
first story, William and Mary Wood used the property as a guarantee for a $1,000 loan, which perhaps indicates that a 
kck of funds had delayed completion of the building for two years.10 Finding a tenant might have allowed the 
Woods to secure a loan so that any unfinished work could be concluded. Land tax records indicate that the 
valuation for this lot increased from $1300 in 1910 to $2,000 in 1911 - another clue that something had happened 
on the property.11 In 1918 a loan for $3,113.20 was obtained, again with the property as collateral. No other 
transactions occurred until 1943, when, because his wife Mary had already passed away, William Wood transferred 
the property to his son William Jr. When William Jr. died in 1948, the deed reverted to his brother Charles, and 
when Charles died in 1962 it was transferred to Charles' widow, Hazel Wood.12 The current owner, John Boos, 
bought the property from Hazel Wood and her daughter, Dorothy Hughes in 1979. During its long history, 1 South 
Frederick Street has nearly always been a saloon, with only temporary closures along the way, while 3 South 
Frederick and 607 Independence have housed such diverse businesses as The Creamery, The Central Furniture 
Company, and Kos Potato Chip Company.13 The second and third floors were known at one time as the Central 
Hotel. Both floors served as a boarding house and hotel, as well as a front for a house of ill-repute.

With the arrival of the Houck and San Francisco railroad systems in the late 19th century, Cape Girardeau's 
sluggish economy prospered and numerous commercial ventures were formed.14 As had happened in countless
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other communities of that period, including Sedalia, Missouri, saloons and "houses of ill fame" were woven, into die 
social and commercial fabric of Cape Girardeau by the earfyyears of the 20th century, and the Wood Building - with 
its infamous reputation15 - is especially noteworthy both because it mains a high level of architectural integrity and 
because its history demonstrates tensions that existed between various groups, including area residents, madams, the 
local constabulary, attorneys, judges and other local officials, and organizations such as the Citizens Committee. 
Moreover, because k operated within one hundred yards of a police station and city hall, and because cases involving 
activities at the Wood Building were most frequently, dismissed when they entered the court system, its history 
suggests a probable pattern of official collusion and corruption. At the center of many controversies, die Wood 
Building is associated not only with local attitudes toward prostitution, alcohol, and other social vices, but is a 
reflection of state and national trends as well

Social and Commercial Context: _ •

An indication that something was amiss in Cape Girardeau, and at the Wood Building, came in early May of 
1913. At this time the local grand jury was instructed to investigate violations of various statutes, including the 
operation of bawdy houses and cases of white slavery.16 One week later, a "Citizens Committee" opposed the 

renewal of the liquor license for the tavern in the Wood Building. In what was called "one of the most keenly fought 
cases heard by the county court in a long time," the committee did not impugn the character of the bar's owner or 
the general conduct of the saloon, but rather condemned the building and its occupants.17 Attempts to prove that 
the Wood Building was "an immoral resort," and that it had been "a constant menace to the citizens," failed, 

however, and a new license was granted.18 Yet the controversies relating to the Wood Building were just beginning. 
Mary Wood received her first known indictment for "keeping a bawdy house" in May of 1913. The case 

dragged on for an entire year, but the charges were dismissed on the day her trial was to begin when the prosecuting 
attorney decided not to pursue the case.1'

She was arrested for the second time a year later, in May of 1914, when the City of Cape Girardeau charged 
her with running a brothel This time she was tried in local police court, found guilty, and fined $100. However, 
she appealed her case to the Cape Girardeau Court of Common Pleas, and then to the Cape Girardeau County 
Circuit Court.20 After numerous continuances and other delays, the Wood case was finally heard.21 During 
testimony, a Miss Eva Sewell "boasted of her bad life and her present condition of being kept by a man."22 The case 
was eventually sent to the St. Louis Court of Appeals.23 This entire scenario played out over the course of six years, 
and in July of 1920 Mary Wood paid her fine. Meanwhile, she was indicted again by the State of Missouri in April of

1917.
Although indicted in April, Mrs. Wood was not actually arrested until that August.24 Again the trial dragged 

on, remaining unsettled until May of 1918 when the charges were dismissed at her cost.25 The judge who presided 
at the hearing stated that he thought Mary's health, which had been the cause of anodier set of continuances, would 

drastically improve now that her case was finally over.26
Perhaps the most intriguing legal action occurred in August of 1919, when Mrs. Wood was again arrested - 

along with a man named Charles Stebbins, who was accused of operating a house of ill repute over the Metropolitan 
Restaurant on Main Street - in an attempt by local officials to "clean up Cape Girardeau."27 Mr. Stebbins was 
charged with a misdemeanor, whereas Mrs. Wood was charged with a felony because the Central Hotel was located 
within a hundred feet of a public building - meaning the police station and city hall28
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Interestingly, there are no records of this case in the Cape Girardeau County coin proceedings; ho^^^e , 
TO tighly publicized in the Soahest Missal newspaper." Thus, in addition to the Omens Conro the 

Woodfamily had to deal with warrants that were issued by the Law Enforcement League, an organization which had 

"special cervice [«c] men make a careful inspection of liquor and moral conditions in Cape Girardeau.
These men, according to affidavits in possession of the League, contracted to buy the rooming house from 

Mrs Wood. The contract., was written out, containing a complete description of the business, the profits 

derived and much other information. Mrs. Wood... signed a contract for the sale of her house, it is claimed, 

and after giving full particulars, naming certain girls and referring to the business of gambling, impressed 

upon the purchaser that he need not fear any interference in the conduct of such a place and then a most 

remarkable statement was made regarding the conduct of her place.31
The newspaper also reminded readers that Mrs. Wood had been on trial previously for similar charges, and that ^ 
one delay after another had occurred "for reasons that only lawyers and court officials could understand. It wa; saia 
that even the local sheriff, who had attempted to keep witnesses at the ready throughout the ordeal, had rinalh 

become discouraged and given up. . . ,
Apparently all the publicity had been bad for business; Mrs. Wood told a Southeast Missomm reporter that. 

althou^hthe hotel had 20 rooms, demand forthem had dropped off dramatically." Moreover, just a few days after 

her arrest, Mrs. Wood decided to move. She leased the rooming house to a resident named Mae i Comer, also 
known as deo Comer, who claimed that she would "conduct the pkce in a respectable manner" and that she would 

"not accept improper characters;" she was to run a rooming house for respectable working girls.3 The case took an 

even more fascinating turn when a want ad published in the Cape Girardeau ScahastMissaam&t : week before : the 

Wood Building was leased to Ms. Comer reported the disappearance of the register from the hotel, it Had. 

apparently, mysteriously vanished just days after Mrs. Wood spoke with the Law Enforcement Leagues

mSPetSonie of those involved were so fervent in their beliefs that at one point, a fistfight erupted in the office of 

the justice of the peace. Before either the Stebbins or Wood cases could go to trial, the defense attorney tor both 

cases Hanv Alexander, and prosecuting attorney C N. Mozley actually came to blows in Justice of the Peace U M- 

Gilbert's office 3 <> The Stebbins case was finally heard on August 26, 1919, and on August 27, 1919 he was tound 
not sruiltv 37 Ironicallv, when court was adjourned for a short recess, many of those in attendance went across the 

street to 'the Central Bar, which was located in the Wood Building.38 Mrs. Wood went to tnal on August 28, 1919, 

and, not surprisingly, on August 29 was found not guilty by Judge Gilbert.3' Over the course of nearly seven years, 

Mrs. Wood was arrested and tried four times, appeared before several different judges, and was found guilty onl>

By September of 1919, a mere month after claiming that she would be running a respectable rooming house, 

Ms Comer was indicted by the State of Missouri for operating a bawdy house within a hundred feet ot City Hall. 

Her trial began in Cape Girardeau Police Court in October of 1919, and her attorney was, once again, Ham- 
Alexander 41 Two young men ostensibly working for the Law Enforcement League testified that they had gone to 

the hotel, asked if any girls were available, and when told they would have to wait determined that "business was 

probably'not bad. In April 1920, after several requests for changes of venue and continuances, Ms. Comer pleaded 

guiltv and was fined $200; a $150 "stay of execution" was granted "during good behavior."42
' Prostitution was not the only controversy that involved the Wood Building, for it was revealed during
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Ms Comer's trial that minors had been allowed to purchase liquor at the Central Bar.43
The saloon in the Wood Building had been an issue for local reform groups like the Citizens Commrtteeas 

earlv as 1913, and it continued to be an issue throughout the debate over Prohibition. When Prohibition was 
enacted in July of 19 19, most saloonkeepers in Cape Giradeau stopped serving beer even though the legislation did 
not take effect until January of 1920." The owner of the Central Bar, however, who leased the location from Mr. 
and Mrs. Wood, continued to dispense beer, and had, byOctober of 1919, earned a hefty $15,000.00.45 men the 
bar closed its doors temporarily on October 29, 1919, beverages wi& higher than one half of one percent : alcohol 
content could no longer be purchased in Cape Girardeau.4* The Central Bar reopened as a "soft drink place four 
days later, but by 1921 it was clearly not what it appeared to be.47 On August 26 of 1921, a federal prohibition 
officer named H. B. King confiscated 24 cases of bitters and eight gallons of wine from the Central Bar. After 
carrying the bottles to the front door and tossing them into the street, agent King is said to have smashed any 
unbroken containers with his tomahawk.48

The controversies surrounding the Wood Building were rooted in the social reform movements of the 
Progressive Era that were taking place throughout Missouri and the rest of the nation during the first two decades of 
the 70th century.49 Industrialization, urban expansion, immigration, an unpredictable economy, and business 
monopolies are just a few of the trends that prompted Missourians, as well as other Americans, to expect 
government agencies to intervene to enhance their economic and physical well-being.50

Conclusion: _ „ (
Neighborhood taverns played a prominent role in the development of American ernes.51 The ettorts ot ana- 

alcohol activists notwithstanding, 'saloons and taverns were common places of recreation and relaxation in tum-or- 
the-century Missouri, especially in larger towns and cities and in communities [such as Cape Girardeau] that featured 
large German immigrant populations."52 They "gave boisterous welcome to every male adult, regardless ot his 

private conduct, his clothes, his manners, his previous record, or his ultimate destination."53 Pnor to 1920, taverns 
left virtually no aspect of urban life unaffected.54 "Hardly an issue of a big city newspaper hit the street without 
some mention of a barroom, perhaps as the scene of a crime or a political meeting or as the subject of a human 
interest feature," and Cape Girardeau was no different.55 Many saloons - especially in areas such as Cape 
Girardeau's German Haarig district located not far from the Wood Building - were within easy reach of those who 
called the area home.56 Furthermore, bars wielded wide economic influence in Cape Girardeau. In early 1917, many 
local saloon keepers banded together and partnered with local officials. They agreed to a $300 per year increase in 
the cost of their liquor licenses if the city of Cape Giradeau would help reduce the number of taverns, and their plan 

worked.57 Within just a few years the number of taverns in town had been reduced from 26 to 14.5
Bars like the one in the Wood Building serve not only as commercial drinking establishments but gathering 

places for residents who live nearby, and there is ample evidence that - whether it has been known as the Central 
Bar, the Comer Pub, or Mac's Tavern - this building on the southwest comer of Frederick and Independence Streets 
has 'served as a focal point for the community throughout its period of significance.59 Its integrity remains intact, 
and it was described by Thompson and Associates Preservation Planners of Nashville, Tennessee as the best extant 
example of a neighborhood commercial building in Cape Giradeau.60 Locally significant under Criterion A for its 
relationship to the commercial and social history of the city, it fflustiates trends that were taking place on the : state 
and national level as welL The Wood Building's longevity demonstrates its importance as an enduring neighborhood
mcnmnnn
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Verbal Boundary Description;

Hie eastern 127 feet of Lot Number 25 in Range B in the city and county of Cape Girardeau as follows: Beginning at 
the northeast comer of the aforementioned lot 25, which is fonned by the intersection of Independence and 
Frederick Streets, run west along Independence Street for 127 feet, and then run south - parallel with Fredenck 
Street-for 112 feet to the southern boundary of said lot 25. Next run east abng the southern boundary of lot 25 in 
Range B- parallel with Independence Street - for 127 feet to Frederick Street. Finally, run north abng Frederick 
Street 112 feet to return to the beginning point. (FromA bstma(fTttle 1795 • miMaekjarWWamWaod, Cape 
Girardeau, MO, Prepared by Sam Vandivort, 1911). The verbal boundary description incorporates all of the Wood 

Building itself, and die remainder of the surrounding lot on which it was built.

Boundary Justification:

Hie boundaries correspond to the deed description of the property, and encompasses the area that is historically 

associated with the building.
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Photographs:

The following information is the same for all photographs:

Wood Building
Southwest comer at the intersection of Frederick and Independence Streets. 
Cape Girardeau, Cape Girardeau County, MO 
Debbie Bibb, Photographer 
March, 2002
Debbie Bibb and Cathy Grove, Southeast Missouri State University, c/o Dr. Steven Hof fman, 3 1 1 T 

Camahan Hall, Mail Stop 2960, Cape Girardeau, MO 63701

# 1 East (Frederick Street) elevation, camera facing west.

#2 East (Frederick Street) and north (Independence Street) elevations, camera facing southwest.

# 3 North (Independence Street) elevation, camera facing south.

# 4 South elevation bordering adjoining yard, camera facing northeast.

# 5 West (alleyway) elevation, camera facing northeast

# 6 West (alleyway) elevation, camera facing east.
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